# ZONING, PLATTING & ADVISORY COMMITTEE (ZPAC) October 1, 2019 – Meeting Minutes

PBZ Chairman Matthew Prochaska called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

## Present:

Megan Andrews – Soil and Water Conservation District
Matt Asselmeier – PBZ Department
David Guritz – Forest Preserve
Fran Klaas – Highway Department
Commander Jason Langston – Sheriff's Department
Matthew Prochaska – PBZ Committee Chair
Aaron Rybski – Health Department

#### Absent:

Meagan Briganti – GIS Greg Chismark – WBK Engineering, LLC Brian Holdiman – PBZ Department

#### Audience:

John Sharkey, Ronald Smrz, Caitlin Paloian, and Laura Gay

#### **AGENDA**

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Klaas, to approve the agenda as presented. With a voice vote of all ayes, the motion carried unanimously.

## **MINUTES**

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Ms. Andrews, to approve the September 3, 2019, meeting minutes. With a voice vote of all ayes, the motion carried unanimously.

#### **PETITIONS**

## Petition 19-32 John and Erin Sharkey and Theodore Parks

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

John and Erin Sharkey and Theodore Parks would like to vacate the ten foot (10') public utility and drainage easement that runs along and parallel the northern lot lines of Lots 1 and 4 in Highgrove Subdivision. The Petitioners own the property immediately north of the subdivision and would like to construct buildings inside the current easement.

After submitting the application to vacate the easement in question, the Petitioners agreed to relocate the easement to the northern boundary of PINs 09-07-200-034 and 09-07-200-033.

The property is located at 13315D and 13315A Grove Road in Seward Township.

The property is zoned R-2 One Family Residential. The current land use is one-family residential. The future land use is rural residential. There are no floodplains or wetlands on the property. The adjacent land uses are agricultural, single-family residential, farmstead, and park. The adjacent zonings are A-1, RPD-2, and R-2. The Land Resource Management Plan calls for the entire area to be rural residential.

Seward Township was emailed information on September 23, 2019, and did not submit any comments.

The Petitioners originally wanted to vacate the ten foot (10') public utility and drainage easement that runs along and parallel the northern lot lines of Lots 1 and 4 in Highgrove Subdivision. The Petitioners own the property immediately north of the subdivision and would like to construct buildings inside the current easement.

On September 6, 2019, Fran Klaas sent an email expressing no opposition to the proposal on the condition that no public utilities were located in the easement and that the easement be relocated to the north portion of the Petitioners' respective properties (09-07-200-034 and 09-07-200-033).

Also on September 6, 2019, Greg Chismark submitted comments concurring with Fran Klaas. Mr. Chismark also requested that the easement be extended north along the eastern property line of Lot 1 to the new easement location.

The emails from Fran Klaas and Greg Chismark were provided.

The Petitioners contacted JULIE to determine no utilities would be impacted by vacating the easement. The JULIE information was provided.

As of September 9, 2019, the Petitioners agreed to the requests of the County and had their engineer prepare an updated plat showing the relocated and extended easements.

Mr. Guritz asked about drainage facilities in the current easement. Mr. Asselmeier said that no existing drainage facilities are located in the existing easement.

Mr. Rybski asked about the plans for the lots to the north of the subject property. Mr. Asselmeier said that the lots are planned to be used residentially as part of the Petitioners' yards.

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Klaas, to recommend approval of the requested easement vacation and relocation.

Ayes (7): Andrews, Asselmeier, Guritz, Klaas, Langston, Prochaska, and Rybski

Nays (0): None Present (0): None

Absent (3): Briganti, Chismark, and Holdiman

The motion passed. This proposal will go to the Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Committee on October 7, 2019, at 6:30 p.m.

## Petition 19-34 Ronald Smrz on Behalf of the Ronald Smrz Trust

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

Ron Smrz, on behalf of the Ronald Smrz Trust, would like to establish a storage business for boats and RVs at the subject property.

The property is located at 7821 Route 71. The property is approximately seventeen (17) acres in size and the original proposed area for the special use permit was approximately two (2) acres in size.

The current land use is agricultural. The future land use is rural residential. Route 71 is a State maintained highway and is considered a Scenic Route at the subject property. Yorkville has a trail planned along Route 71. There is a farmable wetland on the property consisting of approximately a tenth (0.1) of an acre. The adjacent land uses are agricultural, single-family residential, and farmstead. The adjacent zonings are A-1, A-1 SU, R-1, R-3, and R-3 PUD. The Land Resource Management Plan calls for the area to be rural residential. The nearby zonings are A-1, A-1 SU, A-1 BP, R-3, RPD-2, and R-3 PUD.

The subject property has a special use permit for a landscaping business.

The special use permit to the north is for a campground. The special use permit to the east is for a landscaping business.

Lyon Farm is located south of the subject property.

The Richard Young and Lyon Forest Preserves are in the vicinity.

The aerial of the property and other pictures of the property were provided.

EcoCat submitted on June 6, 2019, as part the Wetland Delineation Report and found the Fox River INAI Site and Yorkville Seep INAI Site in the area. The entire Wetland Delineation Report was provided.

NRI application submitted on August 2, 2019.

Oswego Township was emailed information on September 24, 2019.

The Bristol-Kendall Fire Protection District was emailed information on September 24, 2019.

The United City of Yorkville was emailed information on September 24, 2019.

According to the information provided to the County, the Petitioner originally planned to offer rental space for two hundred (200) rental units. The Petitioner would offer year-round storage access twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week. The Petitioner reduced the size of the operation to avoid having to provide onsite stormwater detention.

Prospective renters would meet with the Petitioner at the property at a pre-arranged time to view the property, sign a contract, and receive their access code. The Petitioner plans to use the existing storage building shown in Attachment 6 as the office for the business.

The Petitioner and his wife would be the only employees of the business.

No new structures are planned for the property. A new occupancy permit might be required for the existing storage building.

The location of the well was shown on the proposed site plan south of the existing house. No bathrooms or potable water sources would be available to patrons of the storage business.

The Petitioner indicated that the storage area would have a gravel base.

The property fronts Route 71 and an existing access point off of Route 71 exists.

The Illinois Department of Transportation provided comments regarding this proposal. A new access permit will be required.

Parking will occur in the gravel areas east of the existing building shown. The Petitioner originally proposed having fifteen (15) parking spaces. Per the Americans with Disabilities Act, at least one (1) of these spaces must be handicapped accessible. The Petitioner may change the parking layout.

The Petitioner plans to install lighting on the exterior of the shed.

The Petitioner plans to install a sign along Route 71. The sign must meet all of requirements of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance and must not be illuminated.

The Petitioner plans to remove the three (3) existing Norway Spruce trees. The Petitioner originally planned to plant forty (40) evergreens that will be between approximately four feet and six feet (4'-6') in height at the time of planting. The evergreens were to be placed to the north and east of the storage area. The Petitioner may change the number of evergreen depending on the revised site plan. The evergreens would be planted by the end of May 2020.

The Petitioner indicated that the storage area will have a chain-link fence around the storage area. The fence is planned to be six feet (6') in height.

There will be a twenty foot (20') wide automatic gate on the east side of the storage area to control access to the area. The gate will be adjacent to the shed.

A security monitoring system will also be installed with cameras on the shed.

No information was provided regarding noise control.

No new odors are foreseen.

While very little trash or litter is expected to be generated by the proposed, no plans for litter control were provided.

If approved, this would be the fifth active special use permit for this type of storage in unincorporated Kendall County.

The Petitioner currently resides in the house on the property.

The Petitioner agreed that all items stored on the property would remain licensed and in good working order. The Petitioner agreed to follow the Kendall County Inoperable Vehicle Ordinance and the Junk and Debris Ordinance. The Petitioner also agreed that none of the vehicles stored as part of the special use permit would be for agricultural purposes.

A revised site plan was submitted with a smaller project footprint in order to not have to install onsite storage of stormwater.

Mr. Guritz asked about the threshold for stormwater. Mr. Asselmeier read the threshold from the Stormwater Management Ordinance.

Commander Langston asked about size limitations for vehicles stored on the property. Mr. Smrz responded that the maximum would be approximately thirty-nine feet (39'). Commander Langston expressed concerns regarding larger vehicles accessing the property. Mr. Smrz noted that the State has plans to widen Route 71. Mr. Smrz will ask the State to see if a larger entrance is necessary.

Ms. Andrews noted that the Kendall County Soil and Water Conservation District reviewed the proposal last month and will forward her report.

Mr. Rybski noted the locations of the existing well and septic and expressed no concerns related to the Health Department.

Mr. Asselmeier asked about a plan to address leaks such as motor oil leaks. Mr. Smrz said that he would check the site daily for leaks and will have spill pad clean-up kits available. Contaminated gravel will be disposed of properly.

Discussion occurred regarding the stormwater requirements. The Petitioner expressed concerns about the retention area across Route 71. Mr. Klaas suggested that a variance could be pursued.

The Petitioner stated that he wanted to examine his site plan to see what type of stormwater variance would be necessary and to see the costs associated with the project.

Mr. Rybski made a motion, seconded by Mr. Klaas, to postpone the Petition until the Petitioner supplies an updated site plan or makes a decision regarding the Stormwater Management Ordinance requirements. With a voice vote of all ayes, the motion carried unanimously.

#### Petition 19-35 John and Laura Gay

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

John and Laura Gay would like to establish a kennel, The Pets Home Pet Resort and Spa, at the subject property which they own at 3601 Plainfield Road. They are also requesting a variance to allow the kennel to be approximately thirty feet, six and one half inches (30'-6 ½") from property zoned other than residential at the kennel's closest point with neighboring property.

The property is approximately five (5) acres in size and the special use area is approximately four point seven (4.7) acres in size.

The existing land use is agricultural and single-family residential. The future land use is suburban residential. There are no trails planned in the area. There are no floodplains or wetlands on the property, but Morgan Creek runs along the northern boundary of the property.

The adjacent land uses are agricultural, farmstead, and single-family residential. The adjacent zoning is A-1. The Land Resource Management Plan calls for the area to be suburban residential with commercial to the south of the property. The adjacent zonings are A-1 and R-1 in the County and R-2 inside the Village of Oswego.

The Ashcroft Place subdivision is located within one half mile (1/2) to the north.

The Deerpath Trails and Morgan Crossing subdivisions are located within one half (1/2) mile to the west.

EcoCat submitted on July 22, 2019, and found no protection species or sites in the vicinity.

NRI application submitted on September 12, 2019.

Oswego Township was emailed information on September 23, 2019.

Oswego Fire Protection District was emailed information on September 23, 2019. They requested the building to be fire alarmed. They requested the building to be sprinkled. They also requested turn-around capabilities for fire apparatus on the subject property.

The Village of Oswego was emailed information on September 23, 2019.

The Petitioners currently reside in the one-story frame house on the property.

Because of the shape of the property, a variance is required to the distance from the kennel to non-residentially zoned property.

According to the information provided to the County, the Petitioners plan to offer pet daycare, boarding, and grooming services. The proposed hours of operation are Monday through Friday from 6:00 a.m. until 6:00 p.m. The Petitioners plan to hire five (5) employees. The maximum number of dogs planned for the site is one hundred (100). Per the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance, all animals will be indoors by sunset. The Petitioners believe the area is lacking this type of service.

As noted in the site plan, the Petitioners plan to construct an approximately four thousand, one hundred fifty (4,150) square foot building southeast of the existing home on the property. The building shall consist of fourteen (14) rooms including a lobby, manager's office, restroom, bathroom, break room, laundry, dog bathing room, three (3) pet suites, and pet areas for small, medium, and large dogs. A six foot (6') tall wood fence would be located approximately fifteen feet (15') from the building to the southeast and northeast. The fenced area would be approximately six hundred twenty (620) square feet in size and serve as a play area for the dogs.

Building and Occupancy Permits will be required for the new building.

The Petitioner indicated that they are working with the Health Department regarding well and septic facilities.

The property fronts Plainfield Road and curb cut already exists for the proposed driveway for the kennel. The Petitioners are going to remove an existing driveway connection on the property. If this removal occurs, there would be one (1) dedicated entrance for the residence and one (1) dedicated entrance for the kennel.

The Petitioners believe most of the traffic generated by the proposed business will occur in the morning and early evening when patrons drop-off and pick-up their pets.

The Petitioners propose to install an eleven (11) spot parking lot. One (1) of the spaces would be handicapped accessible. The parking lot would access Plainfield Road through a twenty-two foot (22') wide asphalt driveway.

The Petitioners plan to installed three (3) lights along the driveway and in the parking lot. These lights are twelve feet (12') in height. Two (2) wall pack will be installed along the east side of the building. Four (4) wall lights will be installed on the building; three (3) will be on the north side of the building and one (1) will be on the east side of the building. The description of the types of lighting that might be installed were provided. The exact light fixtures are not known.

The Petitioners plan to have one (1) sign along Plainfield Road.

The Petitioners plan to install eight (8) canopy trees, six (6) deciduous shrubs, twenty-eight (28) evergreen shrubs, and six (6) groundcovers, grass, and perennials. The specific location of the plants can be found on the site plan.

The Petitioners believe the distance of their facility to existing houses combined with having the dogs indoors by sunset will prevent any noise issues.

The Petitioners plan to install an eight foot by ten foot (8' X 10') refuse enclosure at the northeastern end of the parking lot. The enclosure is proposed to be six feet (6') tall surrounded by brick with a steel gate for access. Refuse will be picked up weekly.

If approved, this would be the fifth active special use permit for a kennel in unincorporated Kendall County.

Chairman Prochaska asked if the Petitioners were agreeable to the requests of the Oswego Fire Protection District. Ms. Paloian responded that her clients are going through a cost estimate related to the sprinkling and alarming requirements. Ms. Paloian asked about the requirements regarding the turn-around. Mr. Asselmeier said that the Oswego Fire

Protection District would have to be contacted regarding their specifications. The property is on well and septic and a new well and septic will be installed for the special use permit.

Mr. Rybski noted that the wash water from the dogs is also domestic waste. He encouraged the Petitioners to meet with the Health Department before any well and septic permits are issued. Refuse needs to be picked up as frequently to prevent overflow.

Commander Langston asked about peak capacity and the impacts on traffic on Plainfield Road. The Petitioners anticipate most traffic occurring in the mornings and evenings when customers pick-up and drop-off their dogs. The Petitioners do not foresee a large amount of traffic.

Mr. Asselmeier asked about weekend hours of operation. Ms. Paloian responded that the Petitioners will be onsite to handle dogs boarded over the weekend, but there will not be any drop-offs or pick-ups over the weekend. The dogs will not be outside for play during the weekend. The Petitioners will apply for a sign permit after a special use is issued.

Ms. Andrews stated that she is working on the NRI Report.

Mr. Klaas asked if the special use permit goes with the property. Mr. Asselmeier responded that this special use permit would go with the property.

Mr. Klaas asked about estimate traffic generation per day. The exact number was unknown, but was not planned to exceed one hundred (100) new trips per day. Ms. Gay noted that they pick-up some dogs as part of the kennel business.

Mr. Klaas requested a fifteen foot (15') right-of-way dedication for Plainfield Road.

Ms. Andrews made a motion, seconded by Mr. Klaas, to recommended approval of the Petition.

Ayes (7): Andrews, Asselmeier, Guritz, Klaas, Langston, Prochaska, and Rybski

Nays (0): None Present (0): None

Absent (3): Briganti, Chismark, and Holdiman

The motion passed. The proposal will go to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on October 23, 2019, at 7:00 p.m.

## **REVIEW OF PETITIONS THAT WENT TO COUNTY BOARD**

None

## **OLD BUSINESS/NEW BUSINESS**

#### Approval of Fiscal Year 2019-2020 Meeting Calendar

Mr. Asselmeier made a motion, seconded by Ms. Andrews, to approve the meeting calendar. With a voice vote of all ayes, the motion carried unanimously.

**CORRESPONDENCE** 

None

**PUBLIC COMMENT** 

None

#### **ADJOURNMENT**

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Rybski, to adjourn. With a voice vote of all ayes, the motion carried. The ZPAC, at 9:47 a.m., adjourned.

Respectfully Submitted, Matthew H. Asselmeier, AICP Senior Planner